
Shelton's Grove 
 
   An interes�ng footnote to the history of the Niles & New Lisbon Railroad is the story of 
Shelton's Grove.  The Grove was located along Litle Beaver Creek, near the �ny 
community of Teagarden (see Before It Was a Bike Path, slides 50, 51).  The community 
was founded by William Teagarden who located there in 1804.  Teagarden dammed the 
Creek and built a sawmill, which became the center of the small community.       
     Some�me in the early 1800's William sold about 200 acres of his property along the 
Creek to another early setler, Sam Shelton.  Sam married, had six children, and like most 
of his neighbors, probably earned a living farming.  But in 1875 it appears the Shelton 
family opened a coal mining opera�on on their property, near Long's Crossing, Milepost 
26.5 on the Niles & New Lisbon Railroad:  

                         
 
   Buckeye State, New Lisbon 6-24-1875                      Ohio Patriot, New Lisbon 3-16-1876 
 
   While the lands along the Litle Beaver Creek contained rich deposits of coal, two of 
Sam's sons, Vernon and Homer, were apparently more interested in the calm, peaceful 
pond created by Teagarden's dam, and the adjacent park-like grounds on Shelton land. 
By 1878 the brothers began developing the spot into a local picnicking atrac�on: 
 

  Buckeye State   New Lisbon   6-6-1878  
(Editorial ar�cle regarding Shelton's Grove)    
 
 

                    
                                            
                             Ohio Patriot  8-15-1878 
                               (Salem news sec�on)   
        



      2 
 
   By the following year, informal ou�ngs and picnics at Shelton's evolved into a more 
formal commercial venture, complete with newspaper adver�sing by the brothers:   
 

   Ohio Patriot 
   New Lisbon 
   5-22-1879 
 

 
 
Ohio Patriot 
New Lisbon 
7-24-1879 
                                        
     Note availability of "cigars, peanuts and   
     horse feed" along with "ice cream and  
     lemonade."    
 
    The Shelton's moto: "Strict temperance 
    in all things" was adhered to closely, 
    as the Picnic Ground soon became a    
    favorite des�na�on for Sunday school 
    and church group ou�ngs.   
 
 
 

    During the 1870's US railroads began marke�ng rail travel for personal enjoyment.  
Rail excursions, even short trips to local atrac�ons, became fashionable.  The Shelton's 
were fortunate in that the Niles & New Lisbon Railroad passed close by their site.   
                                                     

  
 
Mahoning Dispatch                    Schedule Effec�ve 
 Canfield, Ohio                              5-14-1877 
 7-6-1877 
 
 Note lis�ngs for Long's Crossing and nearby Teagarden, just 
 5 minutes and about 1 ½ miles apart.   
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      Over the years, the N&NL would carry tens of thousands of happy passengers to 
Shelton's.  The first men�on of Shelton's Grove in Canfield's Mahoning Dispatch 
appeared in the Sept. 5, 1879 edi�on.  Editor Fowler introduced readers to Shelton's 
with a full descrip�on of the Grove Excursion (plus a compliment to N&NL Agent Leet). 
   

         
 
   Word spread, as the Grove became a popular des�na�on for groups and organiza�ons 
in communi�es all along the N&NL rail line: 
 

  
                 Mahoning Dispatch 8-19-1881 
 
 
 
 
 
Mahoning Dispatch 
9-16-1881 
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                Mahoning Dispatch  9-8-1882   
 
 
 

 
Mahoning Dispatch 
8-4-1882 
 
 
 
   
 

 
         With so many people from all walks of life    
     atracted to the Grove, observance of the "strict   
     temperance" moto some�mes became an  
     issue for the Shelton brothers.   
 
                                          Columbiana True Press 
                                          Leetonia, Ohio 
                                          8-27-1881 
                                          as reported in  
                                          The New Lisbon Journal 
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   The popularity of Shelton's con�nued to grow during the 1880's, as tourists and 
picnickers traveled to the Grove on daily scheduled and special N&NL excursion trains.  

 
        
 
Mahoning Dispatch  5-25-1883 
 
 
 

 

 
 

         Mahoning Dispatch 7-30-1886                                  Mahoning Dispatch  8-6-1886 
 
    By 1889 sizeable passenger traffic to and from the Grove merited construc�on of a 
sta�on with a 50-foot pla�orm for boarding, along with a building with slate roof.   

 
      Leetonia Reporter 
      8-2-1889 
      Teagarden Sec�on 
 

The exact loca�on of this sta�on is not clear, but it likely remained at Long's Crossing.     
   Based on the above 8-2-1889 ar�cle and other period newsclips it appears Homer 
ended his involvement with the Grove some�me during the 1880's.  Brother Vernon 
took charge, with con�nuing efforts to expand the appeal of his grounds.   

 
       
 
 
 
 

          Leetonia Reporter  6-13-1890    
  
                                                        Leetonia Reporter 
                                                        7-15-1892 
                                                         Editorial      
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   The Grove enjoyed its greatest popularity, drawing the largest crowds, during the 
1890's and the first years of the 20th century.   One of the most popular events staged at 
the Grove was the annual Harvest Home Picnic, held the last Saturday in August.  
Prominent poli�cal figures at the state and even na�onal level journeyed to the Grove to 
speak.  The event atracted thousands.    
 

   
 
 
 
 

            Leetonia Reporter  8-23-1895 
 
                                                      
                                                                                                Yesteryears, Salem News 
                                                                                                            11-14-1995 
                                                                                                    Shelton Grove ar�cle 
 
Rivaling the popularity of Harvest Home were the celebra�ons of na�onal holidays--July 
4th brought thousands to Shelton's Grove for dancing, baseball, boa�ng and fireworks.   
 
     
 
                                       
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

    
   Leetonia Reporter 
   7-5-1895 
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      During these years, passenger traffic to and from the Grove was an integral part of 
business on the Lisbon Branch--not just on special occasions, but every day.  The Erie 
�metable effec�ve June 18, 1899 designated Shelton's Grove as a flag stop for all six of 
the daily ex Sunday scheduled passenger trains opera�ng on the Branch: 
 

 
                                    Erie Railroad Public Timetable January 1900, page 18 
 
    But a�er 1900 the popularity of the Grove began to diminish.  The arrival of the 
automobile, the rapid increase in its numbers and improved roads resulted in a change 
in travel habits and a drama�c decline in the popularity of Shelton's Grove.  Many 
people were no longer sa�sfied with travel to nearby, quaint des�na�ons like the Grove.    
    The annual Harvest Home Picnic was an early casualty of this change.  Despite 
favorable weather and a personal appearance by Ohio Governor Judson Harmon, 
atendance at the 1911 Harvest Picnic was down.  And for the first �me in years, the Erie 
Railroad did not operate any special trains to Shelton's Grove for the event. 
 

                    
 
                                                       Mahoning Dispatch  9-1-1911 
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The last Harvest Picnic occurred in 1924 when fewer than 50 people atended the 
poli�cal gathering at the Grove.  (Salem News, Yesteryear, 11-14-1995). 
    Special excursion trains to Shelton's Grove for church ou�ngs persisted into the 20th 
century a bit longer than specials to the Harvest Picnic.   But with revenues from �cket 
sales down, these special excursions became more difficult to arrange with the Erie.    

 
      
 

      Mahoning Dispatch 7-30-1909  
      Washingtonville Sec�on 
  
                                                                                          Mahoning Dispatch  8-30-1912 
                                     Washingtonville Sec�on 
  
                       
 
                              
 
 
 
    

          
   Mahoning Dispatch   9-6-1912     Washingtonville Sec�on 
 
The last record in the Dispatch of a special train to Shelton's Grove appeared in 1914.   
That year the Washingtonville Sunday schools joined with other groups to afford the cost 
of chartering a special train from Washingtonville to the Grove and return. 
 
           
 
   Mahoning Dispatch 
   8-14-1914 
   Washingtonville Sec�on 
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    The last regularly scheduled passenger train on the Branch was discon�nued three 
years later in June 1917, leaving a single mixed train each way daily to travel the line. 
It's likely Shelton's Grove remained a flag stop for picnic gatherings un�l June 1917, and 
perhaps even into the early 1920's for occasional travelers on the mixed train.   But in 
1919 Vernon's sons John and Mark sold the Grove to a Mr. Eagleton.  He was unable to 
arrest the decline in patronage.   And a�er the poor turnout at the 1924 Harvest Home 
event, the Grove was essen�ally closed, ending 40 years of Niles & New Lisbon trains 
carrying happy passengers to a day of boa�ng, swinging, fishing, ice cream, dancing and 
picnics at Shelton's Grove.      
 
Bob Gentzel   June 15, 2023 
 
 
Postscript 
   While Shelton's Grove was the best-known picnic grounds along the Niles & New 
Lisbon Railroad, it wasn't the only one.  During the late 1800's and early 1900's, many 
towns and villages had their own, nearby rural grove used for local social gatherings and 
holiday celebra�ons.   Leetonia and Lisbon were two such examples, each with a shady 
grove within a stone's throw of Niles & New Lisbon tracks.    
   In Leetonia, the Cherry Valley Iron Company owned much of the land north of the iron 
works, between Leetonia and Washingtonville.  In September 1882 we find the first 
reference in a Leetonia newspaper to the Cherry Valley Grove, located on this land, 
about halfway between the two towns. 

    
 
 
 Leetonia Democrat 
           9-22-1882      
  
     This gathering, like many subsequent   
     mee�ngs in the heavily industrialized  
     town of Leetonia, which was surrounded  
     by mul�ple coal and ore mines, was a  
     labor mee�ng.  
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     During the 1880's and 1890's, the heyday of Cherry Valley Grove, horses and buggies 
conveyed townsfolk from Leetonia and Washingtonville to the site, a regular mee�ng 
place on holidays and special occasions. 
 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
                    Leetonia Democrat   6-10-1887   
 

     Leetonia Democrat    7-9-1886  
 
    
       
 
  
         Note:  Bentley's 1902 Atlas of   
 Columbiana County showed the 
 Bingham family owned property 
 on the outskirts of Leetonia,  
         about ½ mile SSW of Salem Iron 
 (formerly Gra�on Iron) 
 
 
 Leetonia Reporter     6-24-1892   
 
 

 
      The popularity of Cherry Valley Grove was short-lived.  The last Leetonia newspaper 
reference to a social func�on at this site was to a dance held there in March 1900.  The  
last reference found to any ac�vity at Cherry Valley Grove was a June 19, 1901 report of 
a Miners Mee�ng held there during an ongoing strike elsewhere in the region. 
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         Leetonia Reporter   6-19-1901 
 
 

   Prospects for a resurrec�on of Cherry Valley Grove for future gatherings were put to 
rest in 1907 when the Youngstown & Ohio River Railroad completed a line between 
Washingtonvile and Leetonia, raising a large steel bridge over the Erie Railroad tracks 
through the former Cherry Valley Grove area.       
 

                                     
Leetonia Reporter  9-20-1907                         
 
               Postcard ca 1907  
               Youngstown & Ohio River Railway  
               Bridge over Erie Railroad, Cherry Valley Grove 
 
   In Lisbon, the local picnic ground was Willow Grove Park.  The Park was located along 
the west bank of Litle Beaver Creek, about a quarter mile north of the Canton Bridge 
(US Route 30 today).   N&NL tracks ran along the hillside on the opposite Creek bank.  
   From the turn of the century (first reference in a Lisbon newspaper to Willow Grove 
was in 1903) and extending into the 1930's, Willow Grove hosted hundreds of local 
gatherings and picnics of churches, social groups, IOOF, Grange groups and family  
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reunions.  Like Shelton's Grove, about 8 miles north, Willow Grove featured a dam on 
the Litle Beaver, a pond and row boats for the enjoyment of visitors.  Over the years, 
the park offered swimming, camping, ice ska�ng, a giant seasaw and rental cotages. 

 
 
 
 
 
Willow Grove Park Dam ca 1914 
Postcard   Ebay 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
Willow Grove Park Lake ca 1910 
Litle Beaver Creek 
Postcard  Ebay 
 
View Looking South Toward the Dam 
N&NL Tracks Along Hillside to the Le� 
 
 
 
   Willow Grove never atracted huge regional crowds like Shelton's.  Instead, it catered 
to smaller groups from the immediate Lisbon and Elkton area.  They came by foot, horse, 
carriage and hay wagon to frequent family reunions and gatherings by churches, local 
organiza�ons and clubs.  The Grove con�nued in this role into the 1930's, with a 
footbridge constructed across the creek in 1933.  About 1940 a flood destroyed the dam, 
spelling the end of that chapter of the park.   In the late 1940's, the Kiwanis helped lead 
a successful community effort to restore Willow Grove.  Today Willow Grove Park 
remains open, one of several parks owned by the Village of Lisbon.   (Preceding 
informa�on from ar�cles and newsclips in Lisbon newspapers, 1903 to 1947, available 
online through Lepper Public Library, Lisbon, Ohio) 
   Although the Groves at Cherry Valley and Willow were immediately adjacent to N&NL 
tracks, I found no indica�on excursions or regular trains ever directly served these sites. 
 
Bob Gentzel    June 18, 2023  


